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Bef ore DAVI S, BENAVI DES, and PRADO Circuit Judges.
PRADO, G rcuit Judge:

This appeal arises froma |awsuit brought by Richard D
Kennedy and his wife, Sally S. Kennedy, under the Fair Credit
Reporting Act (the Act) agai nst Chase Manhattan Bank USA, NA
(Chase Manhattan); Bank of Anerica, NA (USA) (BQA); Experian
| nformation Solutions, Inc. (Experian); and Transunion LLC
(Transunion). In their conplaint, the Kennedys asserted that the
banks violated the Act by obtaining their credit information
under false pretenses and by failing to adopt reasonabl e
procedures for conplying with the Act. The Kennedys further
al | eged that Experian and Transunion (collectively, the consuner
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reporting agencies) failed to adopt reasonabl e procedures for
conplying with the Act.

In response to the Kennedys’ conplaint, the banks and the
consuner credit reporting agencies noved to dismss the Kennedys’
clains for failure to state a claim After considering the
nmotions, the district court determ ned the Kennedys’ all egations
were not actionable under the Act and di sm ssed t he Kennedys’
clains. The Kennedys’ challenge that determnation in this
appeal .

Fact ual Background

The Kennedys’ conplaint sets out the background of their
lawsuit. In their conplaint, the Kennedys, pro se, asserted that
they received pre-qualified offers for credit card accounts from
Chase Manhattan and BOA, that based on the representations made
by the banks the Kennedys believed they were pre-approved for
credit, and that they accepted the offers by returning the
applications. The banks, however, obtained consuner credit
reports from Experian and Transuni on and notified the Kennedys
that, based upon the information in these reports, the banks
woul d not open credit card accounts for the Kennedys.

The pre-approved offers are attached as exhibits to the
conplaint. Each offer provides, in part, that the offered credit
may not be extended if, after the consuner responds to the offer,

t he bank determ nes the consuner does not meet the criteria used



to select the consuner for the offer or any “applicable criteria
bearing on creditworthiness.”

Throughout their |awsuit, the Kennedys maintained the banks
violated the Act by failing to honor firmoffers of credit. The
Kennedys cont ended the banks viol ated section 1681q of the Act by
obt ai ning informati on under the Act under fal se pretenses, and/or
vi ol ated section 168le by not maintaining reasonabl e procedures
and certifications necessary to conply wwth the Act. The
Kennedys argued that the credit reporting agencies viol ated
section 168le by “not adopting reasonabl e procedures for neeting
t he needs of commrerce for consuner credit in a manner which is
fair and equitable to the consuner with regard to confidentiality
and proper utilization of such information in accordance with the
requi renents of the Fair Credit Reporting Act.” The Kennedys
asserted that: the defendants’ actions constituted unfair and
deceptive trade practices; the credit offers contained | ow
introductory rates and bal ance transfer rates that woul d have
saved them noney; their credit history was damaged by having a
declined credit investigation on their credit records; and they
suffered humliation, nental pain, and anxiety due to the
defendants’ wllful and wanton disregard for their rights. The
Kennedys sought actual and punitive damages, as well as costs and
attorney’ s fees.

Chase Manhattan noved to dism ss the conplaint for inproper
j oi nder because it had not extended an offer of credit to Richard
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Kennedy (that offer was extended by BOA). Chase Manhattan al so
filed a notion to dismss for failure to state a claimand/or for
summary judgnent. Chase Manhattan argued that sections 1681b(c)
and 168le did not apply to it because it was not a consuner
reporting agency; it had not violated section 168la by obtaining
i nformati on under false pretenses because Sally Kennedy granted
perm ssion to review her credit history; and its actions did not
constitute unfair and deceptive trade practices because it had a
legal right to decline to extend credit to consuners not neeting
its criteria.

The Kennedys opposed the notion to dismss for inproper
j oi nder, arguing that they had community property and that when
one nenber was denied credit or had his or her credit history
damaged, it affected the other. They al so opposed Chase
Manhattan’s notion to dismss or for sunmary judgnment, arguing
that the Act applied not only to credit reporting agencies, but
also to the users of this information. The Kennedys asserted
that a creditor may obtain a credit report w thout the consuner’s
perm ssion only when the creditor neets the conditions set forth
in section 1681b(c), which allows pre-screening consuners for
offers of credit. |In particular, they contended a condition of
obtaining a credit report is that if the consuner neets the
criteria established by the creditor prior to the selection of
the consuner for the offer, the creditor nust nmake a firmoffer
of credit to the consuner. |If the consuner accepts this offer,
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the creditor may obtain a second credit report to verify that the
consuner continues to neet the selection criteria. They contend
the creditor is not allowed to apply a new set of criteria to the
second credit report in order to disqualify a consuner fromthe
credit offer after the consuner has accepted the offer.

Sally Kennedy averred that her credit history did not change
between the tine that she was selected for the offer of credit
and the tinme that she accepted it, although this assertion is not
set forth in the conplaint. She asserted that Chase Manhattan
did not indicate that any further conditions were made on the
offer. She contended that the offer of credit evidenced the fact
that she satisfied Chase Manhattan's credit criteria and that
Chase Manhattan violated the Act by not extending this credit to
her after it obtained her credit report wthout her know edge.
She argued that this constituted obtaining the credit report
under false pretenses and that inform ng the consuner of pre-
approval, but not honoring this offer, constituted an unfair
trade practice.

Chase Manhattan responded that the Act was anended in 1997
to allow creditors to extend conditional firmoffers to
consuners. Chase Manhattan asserted that pursuant to
section 1681b(c), consuner reporting agencies are permtted to
furnish only limted information to creditors during the pre-
screeni ng process and that after the consunmer responds to the
credit offer the creditor is permtted to access the creditor’s
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credit report to determ ne whether the consuner satisfies its
previously-determned criteria for credit worthiness. Chase
Manhatt an contended that after reviewng Sally Kennedy’'s conpl ete
credit history it determned that she did not satisfy its
criteria for credit worthiness.

The district court granted Chase Manhattan’s notion to
dism ss and held the notion for inproper joinder noot. The court
determ ned that section 1681b(c) applied not only to credit
reporting agencies but also to the entities requesting credit
information. The court agreed with the bank’s assertion that it
had the legal right to decline credit to consuners who fail to
satisfy its credit criteria, that the credit application inforned
Sally Kennedy of this possibility, and that Sally Kennedy’s
signature on the application evidenced her agreenent to those
terms. The court held that a “firmoffer” under the Act neans a
firmoffer “if you neet certain criteria” and that
di ssatisfaction wwth the pre-screening process did not state a
cause of action under the Act. The court also held that the
state law clains were preenpted by the Act.

BOA, Transuni on, and Experian also filed notions to di sm ss.
The district court granted all three notions, citing the reasons
set forth in its order granting Chase Manhattan’s notion to
dismss. The Kennedys then noved for rehearing on the banks’
nmotions, but the district court denied the notion for rehearing.
The district court then entered judgnent in favor of al
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def endants. The Kennedys tinely appealed. |In their appeal, the
Kennedys nmaintain their conplaint states a cause of action and
that the district court erred by dismssing their clains.
Standard of Revi ew

This Court reviews de novo the grant of a notion to dismss
for failure to state a claim?! |In considering a notion to
dismss, the district court nust take the facts as alleged in the
conplaint as true, and may not dism ss the conplaint "unless it
appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts
in support of his claimwhich would entitle himto relief."2 |If
the district court considers information outside of the
pl eadi ngs, the court nmust treat the notion as a notion for
sunmary judgnent.® Although the court nmay not go outside the
conplaint, the court may consi der docunents attached to the
conplaint.?

In this instant case, many of the parties’ argunents relate
to information not in or attached to the conplaint. The district

court, however, relied on the conplaint and the attachnents, and

!See Brown v. Nationsbank Corp., 188 F.3d 579, 585 (5th Gr.
1999) .

2See id. at 585-86 (quoting Conley v. G bson, 355 U.S. 41
45-46 (1957)).

3See Scanlan v. Tex. A&M Univ., 343 F.3d 533, 536, 539 (5th
Cr. 2003).

‘See Collins v. Mdrgan Stanley Dean Wtter, 224 F.3d 496,
498-99 (5th Gr. 2000); see also Scanlan, 343 F.3d at 536.
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it expressly granted the notions to dismss. Therefore, this
Court will not consider evidence outside the pleadings.?®
FirmOfer of Credit

In their first issue, the Kennedys nmaintain the district
court used an incorrect definition for “firmoffer of credit.”
According to the Kennedys, the Act permts a bank to obtain a
consuner credit report for the purpose of extending a firmoffer
of credit, but may decline credit for only three reasons: (1)
because of information contained in the consuner’s credit
application, (2) because of verification of the information used
to select the consuner for the offer, and/or (3) because the
consuner fails to provide collateral. The Kennedys insist the
banks used other criteria to decline themcredit.

Section 1681b of the Act permts a consuner reporting agency
to furnish a creditor wwth a consuner report in connection with a
credit transaction not initiated by the consuner if “the
transaction consists of a firmoffer of credit.”® The Act
defines firmoffer of credit as:

any offer of credit . . . to a consuner that wll be

honored if the consuner is determ ned, based on

information in a consuner report on the consuner, to

nmeet the specific criteria used to select the consuner
for the offer.’

See Ware v. Associated M|k Producers, Inc., 614 F.2d 413,
414-15 (5th Cir. 1980).

615 U.S.C. § 1681b(c)(1)(B)(i).
715 U.S.C. § 1681a(l).



Not abl y, under the 1997 anmendnents to the Act,® a firmoffer of
credit may be further conditioned on one or nore of the
fol | ow ng:

1) The consuner bei ng determ ned, based on information
in the consuner's application for the credit . . ., to
meet specific criteria bearing on credit worthiness
., as applicable, that are established--
(A) before selection of the consunmer for the
of fer; and
(B) for the purpose of determ ning whether to
extend credit . . . pursuant to the offer.
(2) Verification--
(A) that the consuner continues to neet the
specific criteria used to select the consuner for
the offer, by using information in a consuner
report on the consuner, information in the
consuner's application for the credit . . ., or
ot her information bearing on the credit worthiness
of the consuner; or
(B) of the information in the consuner's
application for the credit . . ., to determ ne
that the consuner neets the specific criteria
bearing on credit worthiness .
(3) The consuner furnishing any collateral that is a

requi renent for the extension of the credit . . . that
was- -
(A) established before selection of the consuner
for the offer of credit . . .; and
(B) disclosed to the consuner in the offer of
credit . . . .°

8See Carol A. Ahern & Jeffrey P. Taft, The Consuner Credit
Reporting Reform Act of 1996: An Attenpt to Make the Fair Creidt
Reporting Act More Fair, 51 ConsuverR FIN. L. Q 304, 305-07 (1997)
(di scussing anendnents to the Act resulting from Consuner Credit
Reporting Reform Act of 1996); see also Anne P. Fortney, Privacy,
Consuner Credit Reporting, and Fair Lendi ng Devel opnents, 51
CONSUMER FIN. L. Q 41, 42-43 (1997) (summari zing provisions of
Consuner Credit Reporting Reform Act of 1996).

°15 U.S.C. § 168la(l) (omissions apply to firmoffers of
i nsur ance).



Thus, a creditor nust honor a firmoffer of credit only if, based
on information in the consunmer report, the application, or other
informati on bearing on credit worthiness, the consuner neets the
criteriainitially used to select that consuner for the offer.
The creditor nust establish the criteria for the firmoffer of
credit prior to extending the offer, and nmust maintain a record
of the criteria. !

Consuner reporting agencies, however, are only permtted to
furnish limted information for a credit transaction not
initiated by the consuner.!? By pernmitting a creditor to obtain
l[imted information, the Act allows creditors, |ike banks, to
pre-screen potential customers.®® In the pre-screening process,
credit reporting agencies conpile lists of custoners who neet
specific criteria provided by the creditor, and then provide the

lists to a creditor, who uses the lists to solicit custoners with

See 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(l) (1) (A).
liSee 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(d)(3).

12The consuner reporting agency may furni sh a consuner
report that includes: (1) the nanme and address of a consuner, (2)
an identifier that is not unique to the consuner and that is used
by the person solely for the purpose of verifying the identity of
the consuner, and (3) other information pertaining to a consuner
that does not identify the relationship or experience of the
consuner with respect to a particular creditor or other entity.
See 15 U.S. C. § 1681b(c)(2).

13See In re Trans Union Corp. Privacy Litigation, 211 F.R D

328, 335 (N.D. Ill. 2002) (describing pre-screening as “the sale
of target marketing lists provided the lists are used for making
firmoffers of credit . . . to the consuners on the list”).
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firmoffers for credit in the formof pre-approved offers of
credit. To access nore detailed information to determ ne

whet her the consunmer neets a creditor’s specific criteria bearing
on credit worthiness, a creditor nust obtain a consuner’s

aut hori zation. ! Thus, acceptance of a pre-approved offer of
credit typically requires the consuner’s agreenent to permt the
creditor to access the consuner’s credit information. |If a
consuner responds to a pre-approved offer of credit, and

aut hori zes the creditor to access the consuner’s credit report,
the creditor may then access the consuner’s credit report to
determ ne whet her the consuner satisfies its previously-
established for credit worthiness. As a result, the Act permts
a creditor to make a “conditional” firmoffer of credit; that is,
an offer that is conditioned on the consuner neeting the
creditor’s previously-established criteria for extending credit.
Al t hough the Kennedys maintain the district court used an
incorrect definition for firmoffer of credit, the district court
correctly determned that a firmoffer of credit under the Act

“really neans a ‘firmoffer if you neet certain criteria.’”® As

YSee 16 CF.R, pt. 600, app. 8§ 604(2) (Federal Trade
Commi ssion’s interpretations of the Act).

15Gee 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(c) (1) (A).

®Order Granting Chase Manhattan’s Motion to Dismiss, at
p.4; accord Tucker v. New Rogers Pontiac, Inc., No. 03 C 862,
2003 W 220078297 (N.D. Ill1. Sept. 9, 2003), at *3 (the Act
provides that a creditor may extend a firmoffer of credit and
| ater revoke it, based on creditor's pre-determned criteria,
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aresult, the district court did not err by determning the
Kennedys’ conplaint failed to state a claim

The Kennedys’ conplaint fails to state a clai munder the Act
because Chase Manhattan's Pre- Approved Acceptance Certificate and
BOA' s Pre-sel ected Acceptance Certificate (collectively, the pre-
approved certificates) clearly establish that the respective
offers constitute firmoffers of credit under the Act.

Consi dered together, the conplaint and the attached exhibits show
(1) the banks offered Sally and/or Richard Kennedy a pre-approved
credit card account based on information froma consunmer credit
report, (2) Sally and/or Richard Kennedy received the offer
because the consuner(s) satisfied the specific criteria used by
the banks to nmake the offers, and (3) the credit card accounts
were conditioned on the consuner(s) satisfying specific criteria
bearing on credit worthiness.

The Kennedys al so conpl ain on appeal that the banks viol ated
sections 168la(l) and 1681lb(c) because the banks declined to
extend themcredit after extending themfirmoffers of credit.
The Act, however, allows a creditor to use information in a
consuner report to verify a consuner’s credit worthiness, and to

withdraw a firmoffer of credit if the consuner does not neet the

which it need not disclose to the consuner); Sanpson v. Wstern
Sierra Acceptance Corp., No. 03 C 1396, 2003 W. 21785612 (N. D
I11. Aug. 1, 2003, at *2 (firmoffer of credit defined in terns
of creditor's intention to honor an offer of credit in accordance
wth creditor's undi sclosed, predetermned criteria).
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creditor’s previously-established criteria for extending
credit.! Here, the Kennedys authorized the banks to obtain a
consuner report for the purposes of issuing a credit card
account. Moreover, the banks notified the Kennedys in the pre-
approved certificates that they had the right to prohibit the use
of their credit information in connection with any transaction
that they did not initiate. Although the Kennedys insist the
banks were prohibited fromw thdrawing their offers of credit,
the Act allowed the banks to withdraw the offers if the Kennedys
were not credit-worthy based on the consuner reports. Because
the conplaint alleged the banks engaged in perm ssible acts, the
conplaint failed to state a clai mupon which relief could be

gr ant ed.

7See 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(l)(2).
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The Conplaint’s Specific Allegations

In their conplaint, the Kennedys specifically conplai ned
that the banks viol ated section 1681q of the Act by obtaining
their credit information under false pretenses. Section 1681q
provi des a cause of action for obtaining credit information under
fal se pretenses.!® To prove this claim the Kennedys were
required to show the banks had an inperm ssi bl e purpose in
obtaining the credit report; that is, the banks |acked a
perm ssi bl e purpose.!® “Perm ssible purposes” for obtaining
consuner reports are set out in section 1681b of the Act. That
section provides, in relevant part, that a consuner credit report
may be furnished in connection with a credit transaction that is
not initiated by the consuner if the applicable transaction
consists of a firmoffer of credit, or the consuner authorizes
the report.?® The Kennedys' conplaint and the attachnents,
however, show the banks obtai ned the Kennedys’ credit reports for

a perm ssi ble purpose. The conplaint alleged that: the Kennedys

8See 15 U. S.C. § 1681q (“[a]lny person who know ngly and
W llfully obtains information on a consunmer froma consuner
reporting agency under false pretenses shall be fined under Title
18, inprisoned for not nore than 2 years, or both”).

19See Korotki v. Att'y Servs. Corp. Inc., 931 F. Supp. 1269,
1276 (D. Md. 1996); see also Edge v. Prof’|l dains Bureau, Inc.,
64 F. Supp. 2d 115, 177 (E.D.N Y. 1999); Baker v. Bronx-
West chester Investigations, Inc., 850 F. Supp. 260, 264,
(S.D.N.Y. 1994).

20See 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(c) (1) (A), (B)(i).
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received pre-qualified offers for credit card accounts, the
Kennedys accepted the offers by returning the applications, the
banks obtained credit reports, and the banks notified the
Kennedys that they would not open credit card accounts for them

| ndeed, the pre-approved certificates notified the Kennedys that
the offered credit mght not be extended if, after the Kennedys
responded to the offers, the banks determ ned the Kennedys did
not neet the criteria used to select themfor the offers and any
ot her applicable criteria bearing on credit worthiness.? Thus,
the banks fully apprised the Kennedys that the banks would review
their credit history prior to determ ni ng whether the banks woul d
extend the offered credit. The Kennedys signed the pre-approved
certificates, agreed to the terns of the offers, and authorized

t he banks to access their credit information. Thus, the

conpl aint and the pre-approved certificates show the banks did
not obtain the Kennedys’ credit information under false
pretenses. Instead, the banks pre-screened custoners for firm
offers of credit, and then post-screened accepted offers to
determne eligibility based on credit worthiness. Consequently,

the conplaint failed to state a clai munder section 1681q.

2Chase Manhattan’s notice provided: “The offered credit may
not be extended if, after you respond to this offer, we determ ne
that you do not neet the criteria used to select you for this
of fer or any other applicable criteria bearing on credit
wort hiness.” BOA's notice provided: “The credit may not be
extended if, after you respond, we find that you do not neet the
criteria used to select you for this offer or any applicable
criteria bearing on credit worthiness.”
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The Kennedys al so all eged the banks vi ol ated section 168le
by failing to maintain reasonabl e procedures and certifications
needed to conply with the Act. Section 168le, however, i nposes
duties upon “credit reporting agencies.” Because the banks are
not credit reporting agencies, the Kennedys’ allegation under
section 168le failed to state a claim As a result, the district
court properly dism ssed the Kennedys' cl ai ns agai nst the banks.

Cl ains Against the Credit Reporting Agencies

In their conplaint, the Kennedys all eged that the defendant
credit reporting agencies violated section 168le by failing to
adopt reasonabl e procedures. The Kennedys, however, did not
al l ege any specific factual allegations regarding the credit
reporting agencies’ procedures or specify how the agencies
violated the Act. Notably, the conplaint did not allege the
credit reporting agencies provided inaccurate credit
i nformation.? Because the conplaint sinply alleged a violation
of section 168le w thout any supporting factual allegations, the
Kennedys’ clains against the credit reporting agencies were
not hi ng nore than unsupported | egal conclusions. Despite this

weakness, the conplaint and the attachnents show that the

22Gection 168le(b) requires a consuner reporting agency to
fol |l ow reasonabl e procedures to assure maxi mum possi bl e accuracy
of the information provided in the report. See 15 U S. C
168le(b). This Court’s analysis of the Kennedys’ clains does not
address the accuracy requirenent because the Kennedys did not
allege the credit reporting agencies provided i naccurate
i nformati on.
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Kennedys can prove no set of facts that would entitle themto
relief.

A plaintiff bringing a claimthat a reporting agency
vi ol ated the "reasonabl e procedures" requirenent of section 168le
must first show that the reporting agency released the report in
viol ation of section 1681b.%® The Kennedys' conplaint, however,
does not allege the credit reporting agencies released their
credit information in violation of section 1681b. |Instead, the
conplaint alleges the credit reporting agencies “violated Section
1681le by not adopting reasonabl e procedures for neeting the needs
of conmerce for consuner credit in a manner which is fair and
equitable to the consuner with regard to confidentiality and
proper utilization of such information in accordance with the
requi renents of the . . . Act.” 1In essence, the Kennedys all eged
the credit reporting agencies acted under section 1681b-t he
provi sion that permts a consuner reporting agency to provide a
consuner report in connection wiwth a firmoffer of credit, but
not that the credit reporting agencies violated section 1681b.

In addition, the Kennedys cannot show the credit reporting
agencies released their credit reports in violation of section
1681b because the banks’ pre-approved certificates constituted
firmoffers of credit, and because the Kennedys authorized the

release of their credit information. |Instead, the conplaint and

2See Washington v. CSC Credit Servs. Inc., 199 F.3d 263,
267 (5th Gir. 2000).
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the pre-approved certificates show the credit reporting agencies
were authorized to rel ease the Kennedys’ credit information. The
pre-approved certificates show t he Kennedys signed the banks’
firmoffers of credit and expressly authorized the banks to
obtain their credit information fromthe credit reporting
agencies. As aresult, the district court did not err by finding
the Kennedys failed to state a claimagainst the credit reporting
agenci es.
Concl usi on

The district court correctly determned that the Act permts
a creditor to pre-screen consuners for firmoffers of credit, and
to wthdraw an offer if a consuner fails to neet the creditor’s
previ ousl y-established criteria for credit worthiness. As a
result, the district court did not err in finding the Kennedys
failed to state a claimagainst the banks. In addition, the
district court correctly determned that a plaintiff who
conpl ai ns under section 168le after a consuner reporting agency
releases limted consuner information pursuant to a firmoffer of
credit, or releases a consuner credit report upon the consuner’s
aut hori zation, in the absence of an allegation of inaccurate
information, fails to state a claim Because the district court
did not err in these determ nations, the district court properly
di sm ssed the Kennedys’ clains. As a result, this Court AFFI RVS

the judgnent of the district court.
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